2001

Ines C. Fowler v. Harold W. Taylor : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Official Report of Proceedings in the Trial Court will be referred to throughout this Brief by the letter "T." followed by the number of the specific page or pages referred to. Exhibits will be referred to as "Ex." followed by the number of the specific exhibit or exhibits referred to. The defendant-appellant and the plaintiff-respondent will be referred to throughout as "Appellant" and "Respondent," respectively.

Respondent was first licensed as a real estate salesman in Utah in November of 1967, and was so licensed continually thereafter until January 1, 1973. T. 26, 29, 84. In 1971, Respondent took and passed the Utah Real Estate Broker's Examination, but did not activate her real estate broker's license at that time. T. 29. In September of 1971, Respondent went to work for Treasure Mountain Corporation as a real estate salesman. T. 29.

Appellant was first licensed as a real estate salesman in Utah in 1958, and became the director of real estate sales for Treasure Mountain Corporation in July of 1972. At that time, Appellant became Respondent's supervisor in the Treasure Mountain Corporation sales office. T. 144, 145. In August of 1972, Appellant

activated his Utah real estate sales license, and was so licensed continually thereafter until February 19, 1973. T. 35, 171.

Effective October 20, 1972, Treasure Mountain Corporation registered for sale with the Utah State Department of Business Regulation and the United States Securities and Exchange Commission certain real estate securities commonly known as the Crescent Ridge and Payday Condominiums, located in Park City, Utah. T. 6, 7, 45. Also effective October 20, 1972, both Appellant and Respondent were licensed as securities salesmen under Treasure Mountain Corporation. Appellant was so licensed until December 14, 1972, and Respondent was so licensed until January 1, 1973. T. 7, 8, 170.

On December 14, 1972, Appellant was licensed by the appropriate Utah State and federal agencies as a securities broker-dealer. T. 112, 170.

At no time pertinent hereto did Respondent have any written agreement with anyone pursuant to which she would act as either a securities broker-dealer or a real estate broker. T. 62.

Within approximately one week prior to December 20, 1972, Appellant contacted a friend of his, Robert Monson, a licensed Utah real estate broker, and inquired of him whether he would be willing to "broker" for Appellant's sales organization until

Appellant could qualify for his own Utah real estate broker's license. Mr. Monson indicated that he was willing to so broker for Appellant. Mr. Monson was willing to so act at no charge to Appellant. T. 80, 81, 111.

Prior to December 20, 1972, Appellant and Treasure Mountain Corporation officials entered into negotiations to have Appellant act as an independent contractor for the purpose of marketing the subject real estate securities. T. 45, 46, 147, and Ex. 7, 12.

Prior to December 20, 1972, Respondent knew that Treasure Mountain Corporation and Appellant intended to enter into an agreement pursuant to which Treasure Mountain Corporation would retain Appellant to act as an independent contractor for the purpose of marketing the subject real estate securities, and that the aforesaid securities registration was being amended accordingly. Respondent also knew that Appellant was to receive a total commission of 3.5% on all sales made by him and his sales personnel, of which 2.5% would be paid to the salesman making the sale and 1% would be retained by Appellant. T. 35, 69-72, and Ex. 7.

Prior to December 20, 1972, Respondent knew that even though she held a license as a securities salesman and a license as a real estate salesman, and

even though Appellant held a license as a securities broker-dealer, she still would not be able to sell any of the subject real estate securities as one of Appellant's sales personnel unless she or someone else acted as a real estate broker for Appellant's sales organization, and that both a real estate broker's license and a securities broker-dealer's license were necessary for Appellant's sales organization in order for her to make any sales of the subject real estate securities. T. 85, 87.

Prior to December 20, 1972, Respondent and other salesmen in Appellant's sales organization had been waiting a considerable amount of time for the subject real estate securities to be effectively registered as securities and for all sales personnel to be properly licensed to sell. T. 110.

Prior to December 20, 1972, in addition to Respondent, another of the real estate salesmen in Appellant's sales organization was eligible to activate his real estate broker's license. T. 152.

On December 20, 1972, Appellant asked if he could "use" Respondent's real estate broker's license and requested her to activate such license with the Real Estate Division of the Utah Department of Business Regulation. Respondent agreed to Appellant's request, whereupon Appellant completed the necessary paperwork,

which Respondent signed, and which paperwork was then filed with the Real Estate Division. Respondent's real estate broker's license fees and bond were paid for by Appellant. T. 30, 31, 152, and Ex. 20.

On December 20, 1972, at the time Appellant requested and Respondent agreed to activate her real estate broker's license, no mention was made by anyone of any commission or other compensation to be paid to Respondent for her acting as a real estate broker for Appellant's sales organization, and there was no express agreement, written or oral, between the parties that any such commission or compensation would be paid.

T. 34, 69, 84, 153. The Trial Court took judicial notice of the fact that Rule 19 of the Rules and Regulations issued by the Real Estate Division of the Department of Business Regulation requires that real estate brokers are required to provide their salesmen with the written terms of their employment arrangement in order to avoid any misunderstanding. T. 224, 225. Respondent admits that she should have insisted on a written agreement between her and Appellant with respect to any commissions or compensation due her for her acting as a real estate broker for Appellant's sales organization.

T. 84.

Shortly after December 20, 1972, Appellant completed the necessary paperwork to open a real estate

broker's trust account for which Respondent would be responsible, and both Appellant and Respondent signed the signature card. Appellant alone provided the funds necessary to make the initial deposit in the trust account, and no additional monies were ever deposited in the account. T. 35, 68, 69.

Effective December 29, 1972, amendments to the aforesaid October 20, 1972, securities registration and prospectus were amended as planned, and Treasure Mountain Corporation and Appellant entered into the anticipated agreement pursuant to which Appellant would act as an independent contractor to market the subject real estate securities. T. 45, 46, 48, and Ex. 7, 12.

Effective January 1, 1973, Respondent became the real estate broker for Appellant's sales organization, and Appellant and two other salesmen held real estate licenses under her. On January 1, 1973, Appellant held the securities broker-dealer's license for Appellant's sales organization and Respondent and two other salesmen were licensed for securities purposes under him. Respondent continued to be licensed as a securities salesman under Appellant until June, 1973. One additional salesman was licensed under both Appellant and Respondent about February 1, 1973. T. 7, 8, 149, 150, and Ex. 1.

After January 1, 1973, and continuing until February 19, 1973, Respondent incurred the risks incidental to "brokering" for Appellant's sales organization. T. 82. Other than being the responsible real estate broker for up to four real estate salesmen, Respondent's duties between January 1 and February 19, 1973, were the same as they were both before and after that period of time. T. 65, 85, 156, 157.

Between January 1, 1973, and February 19, 1973, the office space, office furniture, and office utilities and telephone service used by Appellant's sales organization, including Respondent in her capacity as a real estate broker, were provided without charge by Treasure Mountain Corporation.

Between January 1, 1973, and February 19, 1973, Appellant was responsible for the success of his sales organization, including supervision of all sales personnel, T. 149; conducting weekly sales meetings, T. 64; the hiring and payment of a secretary and the furnishing of stationery, office supplies, etc., T. 137, 150; and performance of the contractual obligation he had with Treasure Mountain Corporation, including making certain that all sales personnel were properly licensed; that his sales organization complied with all applicable laws and regulations, including securities laws, real estate laws, and Interstate Land Sales Acts; payment of all personnel; and indemnification

of Treasure Mountain Corporation with respect to the form of the Securities Registration Statements and Prospectus. Ex. 12.

Between January 1, 1973, and February 19, 1973, sales made by Appellant's sales organization were considered made when deposits were received and/or sales agreements were signed, T. 37, 116; but commissions were not considered earned until the sale was closed. Forty-two sales were made during that period of time but none of them were closed. T. 37, 39, 40, 87, 92, 116, and Ex. 22, 23, 24.

As of January 1, 1973, Appellant's sales organization had a list of approximately 500 names of persons who had indicated an interest in purchasing the subject real estate securities as soon as registration thereof was effective and sales personnel were qualified to sell. Accordingly, Appellant's sales organization enjoyed brisk sales activity in January and February of 1973. T. 205, 207. The gross sales price of the real estate securities sold by Appellant's sales organization between January 1, 1973, and February 19, 1973, was \$2,193,050.00, and Treasure Mountain Corporation paid to Appellant a 1% broker's commission on that gross, or \$21,930.50. Ex. 24. For that same period of time Respondent earned and was paid a 2.5% commission on the sale of eighteen of the

subject real estate securities made by her, which commission amounted to \$12,335.00. T. 186 and Ex. 31.

On February 19, 1973, Appellant's Utah real estate broker's license became effective, whereupon Respondent inactivated her real estate broker's license and became licensed as a real estate salesman under Appellant's license effective the same date. Respondent continued to act as a real estate salesman under Appellant's real estate broker's license until her employment was terminated by Appellant on May 4, 1973. T. 35, 153.

No mention of any real estate broker's commission for Respondent was ever made by Respondent or anyone acting on her behalf to Appellant or anyone acting on his behalf until on or about July 25, 1973. T. 35, 92, and Ex. 19.

Appellant's overhead for the maintenance of his sales organization pursuant to his agreement with Treasure Mountain Corporation amounted to \$1,500.00 per month for all of 1973. T. 137.

The forty-two sales made between January 1, 1973, and February 19, 1973, were closed over a thirteen month period beginning February 21, 1973, as follows:

<u>Month</u>	<u>No. of Sales Closed</u>
February 1973	2
March 1973	2

<u>Month</u>	<u>No. of Sales Closed</u>
April 1973	1
July 1973	3
August 1973	5
September 1973	1
October 1973	5
November 1973	8
December 1973	9
January 1974	4
February 1974	1
March 1974	1

In Utah, the compensation normally paid to a real estate broker for the "use" of his broker's license varies according to the circumstances in each instance, and sometimes it amounts to less than 5% of the salesman's commission; and sometimes it might be \$250.00 per year. T. 78-82.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

RESPONDENT'S CLAIM FOR A REAL ESTATE BROKER'S COMMISSION IS BASED UPON AN IMPLIED AGREEMENT "AUTHORIZING OR EMPLOYING AN AGENT OR BROKER TO PURCHASE OR SELL REAL ESTATE FOR COMPENSATION" WITHIN THE MEANING

OF SECTION 25-5-4(5), UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953, AND IS THEREFORE UNENFORCEABLE.

From the foregoing Statement of Facts, it is clear that Respondent was not a party to any written or oral agreement to pay her the real estate broker's commission she claims. Further, the Trial Court, in its Conclusions of Law, concluded that any such agreement between the parties was implied. See Conclusions of Law, Paragraph 1.

Section 25-5-4, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, provides in pertinent part as follows:

Certain Agreements Void Unless Written and Subscribed. In the following cases, every agreement shall be void unless such agreement, or some note or memorandum thereof, is in writing subscribed by the party to be charged therewith:

...

- (5) Every agreement authorizing or employing an agent or broker to purchase or sell real estate for compensation.

The opinion in Baugh v. Darley, 112 U. 1, 184 P.2d 335 (1947), contains a helpful discussion of the meaning and effect of the foregoing statutory provision as follows:

... It provides that any agreement for the performance of services as a real estate broker shall be void unless in writing. The statute is applicable to contracts implied in law as any other. In effect, it forbids any recovery for

services in selling land which are not provided for by written agreement. See also Page on the Law of Contracts, Sec. 1413. [Emphasis added]

The statute now under discussion was construed by this Court in Case v. Ralph, 56 U. 243, 188 P. 640, 642, where, speaking through Mr. Justice Frick, we said:

The Courts generally hold that under such a statute a real estate broker or agent cannot recover a commission for services rendered in either selling or procuring a purchaser for real property unless it appears: (1) that there is an express contract or agreement of authority in which the terms and conditions of his employment, if any, and the amount of his commission, etc., are stated; (2) that such contract be in writing; (3) that in the absence of such an express contract, no recovery can be had for the reasonable value of the services rendered as upon a quantum meruit, nor for the money and time expended for the use and benefit of the owner of the property. (Italics added)

And in Watson v. Odell, 58 U. 276, 198 P. 772, 775, 20 A.L.R. 280, we said:

Under our statute, the plaintiff could recover a commission only by virtue of a contract. He could not recover as upon a quantum meruit. [Citing Case v. Ralph, Supra.] (Italics added)

See also Smith Realty Co. v. Dipietro, et ux., 77 U. 176, 292 P. 915.

In Hale v. Kriesel, 194 Wis. 271, 215, N. W. 227, 228, 56 A.L.R. 780, in construing a statute similar to ours, the Supreme Court of Wisconsin said:

These statutes leave no opportunity for the law to imply a contract. They apply to implied agreements as well as to those that are express. ... (Italics added)

From the foregoing, it is apparent that a cause of action based on an implied agreement cannot circumvent the plain language of our statute of frauds. However, the Trial Court concluded that an implied agreement between Respondent and Appellant as opposed to an implied agreement between Respondent and Treasure Mountain Corporation, the owner of the subject real property, does not come within the meaning and prohibition of the statute. In Anderson v. Johnson, 108 U. 417, 160 P.2d 725 (1945), this Court held that an oral agreement by a broker to pay commissions to an unlicensed procurer of listings was not an agreement which involved any right or interest in land and therefore not made void and unenforceable by the statute of frauds, but it appears that the Court in Anderson v. Johnson had reference to a different provision of the statute of frauds than Section 25-5-4(5), because that section does not talk in terms of "any right or interest in land." There is no indication in Anderson v. Johnson that the Court considered the issue of whether the particular provision relied on by Appellant here applies to implied agreements like the one claimed by Respondent. Accordingly, as near as we can tell, the question is one of first impression in this Court.

The issue may be quickly decided by considering the plain language of the subsection and two

propositions: (1) Note that the provision talks about "every" agreement "authorizing or employing" which, of course, broadens the provision to apply to any agreement providing for compensation to a real estate broker or agent; and (2) If the legislature did not really mean what the provision clearly says, it would have been a simple matter to state otherwise.

However, even if one concludes that Section 25-5-4(5) applies only to agreements between real estate brokers and agents and the owners of real property, in the case at bar, any implied agreement Respondent had for compensation was with Appellant as an agent or alter-ego of the owner of the property. In support of this proposition, it is important to note that this is not a case where a licensed real estate broker orally or impliedly agreed to share commissions with one of his salesmen or a "finder," nor is it a case where one licensed real estate broker orally or impliedly agreed to share commissions with another licensed real estate broker. On the contrary, at the time any implied agreement relied on by Respondent came into being, Appellant was a licensed real estate salesman but he was not a licensed real estate broker. Consequently, Appellant was not in a position to lawfully act as a real estate broker or receive any compensation as a real estate broker. This is well established by

the following provisions of Utah Code Annotated
(1953):

Section 61-2-1. License Required. It shall be unlawful for any person, co-partnership, or corporation to engage in the business, act in the capacity of, advertise, or assume to act as a real estate broker or a real estate salesman within this state without first obtaining a license under the provisions of this chapter.

Section 61-2-18(a). Unlicensed Broker - Action for Recovery of Compensation Prohibited. No person, partnership, association, or corporation shall bring or maintain action in any Court of this state for the recovery of commission, a fee, or compensation for any act done or service rendered, the doing or rendering of which is prohibited under the provisions of this act, to other than licensed real estate brokers, unless such person was duly licensed hereunder as a real estate broker at the time of the doing of such act or the rendering of such service.

Based on the foregoing statutes, at the time Respondent was acting as a real estate broker for which she claims compensation, she had no legally enforceable claim for real estate brokerage commissions against Appellant because he was acting only on behalf of Treasure Mountain Corporation in requesting her brokerage services. Any legally enforceable claim for real estate broker's commissions during the time Respondent's real estate broker's license was in effect would have had to have been between Respondent and Treasure Mountain Corporation, the owner of the property. Yet, she had no written agreement with Treasure

Mountain Corporation, as required by Section 25-5-4(5), so any implied agreement she had is simply unenforceable. To hold otherwise seems to us to make Section 25-5-4(5) meaningless, because even if Appellant had entered into a written agreement with Respondent, he could have done no more than make her a real estate broker of the owner's property. She certainly could not have been a real estate broker for Appellant with respect to the subject property, because he didn't own it. In Paragraph 7 of the December 29, 1972, agreement between Treasure Mountain Corporation and Appellant, Appellant covenanted as follows:

To obtain and at all times during the term hereof maintain in full force and effect a license issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), as a broker-dealer and licenses covering all Salesmen as securities Salesmen pursuant to the Exchange Act, as well as all other licenses and permits necessary to comply with applicable state securities, real estate, and other laws and relating to all activities of and services rendered by Taylor and Salesmen hereunder Ex. 12, Paragraph 7(b)

Thus, Appellant had a mandate from and an obligation to Treasure Mountain Corporation to obtain a real estate broker to act on behalf of Treasure Mountain Corporation. He did just that, and Respondent became a real estate broker for Treasure Mountain Corporation. The only problem is, her appointment was not in writing

as required by our statute. Therefore, since any real estate broker's agreement in this case had to have been between Respondent and Treasure Mountain Corporation, the owner of the subject real estate securities, and since any such agreement was not in writing, even by the most liberal construction of the provisions of Section 25-5-4(5), any agreement Respondent had is void and unenforceable.

Accordingly, Appellant is entitled to judgment in his favor, no cause of action.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THERE WAS ANY IMPLIED AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARTIES.

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