2001

Ines Fowler v. Harold W. Taylor : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

I

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT MRS. FOWLER'S CLAIM FOR A REAL ESTATE BROKER'S COMMISSION FROM MR. TAYLOR IS NOT BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS.

The Utah Statute of Frauds, 25-5-4 Utah Code Annotated 1953, provides:

Certain agreements void unless written and subscribed. In the following cases every agreement shall be void unless such agreement, or some note or memorandum thereof, is in writing subscribed by the party to be charged therewith:

* * *

(5) Every agreement authorizing or employing an agent or broker to purchase or sell real estate for compensation.

The purpose of this and similar statutes is to discourage unfounded claims for commissions between the broker or agent and the owner of land. The Statute of Frauds has no application to agreements between brokers or a broker and a salesman, neither of whom is the owner of the land. The trial court correctly understood this distinction as evidenced by the following pertinent observations from its decision:

The Court concludes that the Statute of Frauds has no application to the transaction between the parties since it does not involve the legal relationship between an owner and real estate salesman. (R.130).

The trial court's decision is buttressed by the Utah case of Anderson v. Johnson, 108 Utah 417, 160 P.2d 725 (1945), wherein this court held that an agreement to assist a real estate broker in procuring listings of property for sale in consideration of a share of the commission was not within the Statute of Frauds. This court stated:

The contention of respondent that plaintiff cannot recover because his agreement was oral is untenable. The contract was one of employment and not involving any right or interest in land. See Johnson v. Allen, Utah 1945, 158 P.2d 134. The proposition that a contract for fee or commission may be recovered by agent from broker though not in writing is upheld in [citing cases from California, Wyoming, Nebraska, and Louisiana].

There have been a great number of cases from other jurisdictions interpreting similar statutes, and they are quite harmonious in holding that such statutes are enacted to protect the owners of real property against claims by real estate brokers or salesmen. They do not require a written agreement between brokers, or between a broker and a salesman with respect to the sharing of real estate commissions payable by an owner or seller of real estate. The law is summarized in an annotation, "Agreement between brokers as within statute requiring

agreements for commission for the sale of real estate to be in writing", 44 A.L.R. 2d 741, 745:

While the statutes in particular jurisdictions differ in important respects, the more numerous referring either to "employment" of a broker, payment of a "commission" or requiring that the writing be signed by the "owner," there appears to be general agreement that such statutes, unless they specifically refer to an agreement between brokers, were designed specifically to protect owners of real estate against unfounded claims of brokers, and therefore are not applicable to agreements between brokers to pool their efforts and share in the commission thereby earned.

Appellant relies on the cases of Baugh v. Darley, 112 Utah 1, 184 P.2d 335 (1947), Case v. Ralph, 56 Utah 243, 188 P. 640 (1920), Watson v. Odell, 58 Utah 276, 198 P. 772 (1921) and Smith Realty Co. v. Dipietro, 77 Utah 176, 292 P. 915 (1930) to support his argument that Mrs. Fowler's claim for a commission based upon an implied agreement is void under the Statute of Frauds. These cases are easily distinguished because they all involve dealings between owners of land and real estate brokers or salesmen.

It is true, of course, that where an agreement is unenforceable because within the Statute of Frauds, the courts will not permit recovery on an implied contract or a quasi contract, because such recovery would thwart the prohibitions of the statute. However, where an implied or quasi contract does not run counter to the Statute of Frauds, there is no

reason for application of such a rule. In 37 C.J.S. Statute of Frauds § 229, this principle is stated in the following manner:

The statute of frauds applies to contracts implied in fact, and hence if they fall within its scope they are unenforceable. This rule does not apply to an implied or inferred contract which does not fall within the scope of the statute . . . (Emphasis added)

Since the agreement wherein Mr. Taylor engaged Mrs. Fowler to serve as real estate broker and salesman is not within the Statute of Frauds, there is no rule which would prevent the court from raising an implied contract or permitting recovery on the principle of restitution.

Appellant's final argument, that even if 25-5-4(5) Utah Code Annotated 1953 pertains only to agreements between real estate brokers or agents and owners of real property, it would apply in the instant situation because Mr. Taylor was the agent or alter ego of the property owner, merits little consideration. The point is raised for the first time on this appeal; it contradicts the terms of the Treasure Mountain prospectus (Ex. D-2, pp.1, 4) and the agreement between Taylor and Treasure Mountain (Ex. 12, p.6); and it has no support in the evidence. Even if Mrs. Fowler could not have enforced the agreement as against Treasure Mountain, it makes no difference because Treasure Mountain did pay the commissions

II

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THERE WAS AN AGREEMENT, IMPLIED IN FACT, THAT MR. TAYLOR WOULD PAY TO MRS. FOWLER THE REASONABLE VALUE OF HER SERVICES AS A REAL ESTATE BROKER.

Activities of real estate brokers and real estate salesmen, and their right to participate in commissions for the sale of real estate, are regulated by law.

The following statutory provisions from Title 61, Chapter 2, Utah Code Annotated 1953, are pertinent:

61-2-1. License Required. - It shall be unlawful for any person, co-partnership or corporation to engage in the business, act in the capacity of, advertise or assume to act as a real estate broker or a real estate salesman within this chapter without first obtaining a license under the provisions of this chapter.

61-2-10. Salesmen's Right To Commission Restricted. - It shall be unlawful for any real estate salesman to accept a commission or valuable consideration for the performance of any of the acts herein specified from any person, except his employer, who must be a licensed real estate broker.

61-2-18. Unlicensed Broker - Action For Recovery of Compensation Prohibited - Action By Real Estate Salesmen. - (a) No person, partnership, association or corporation shall bring or maintain an action in any court of this state for the recovery of a commission, a fee, or compensation for any act done or service rendered the doing or rendering of which is prohibited under the provisions of this act to other than licensed real estate brokers, unless such person was duly licensed hereunder as a real estate broker at the time of doing such act or the rendering of such service.

(b) No real estate salesman shall have the right to institute suit in his own name for the recovery of a fee, commission, or compensation for services as a real estate salesman except where the action is against the broker but any such action shall be instituted and brought by the broker with whom the salesman is connected.

In order for Mr. Taylor to carry out the obligations of his contract with Treasure Mountain Corporation, it was necessary that the salesmen within the organization operate under the license of a real estate broker, pursuant to the provisions of 61-2-1. When Mr. Taylor requested Mrs. Fowler to renew her license, the circumstances were such that a person in his position would ordinarily be expected to compensate her for her services, and a person in Mrs. Fowler's position would ordinarily expect compensation. Mrs. Fowler testified that she expected to receive a broker's commission of one percent, the same rate paid to previous brokers:

Q (By Mr. Roe) Mrs. Fowler, was there any discussion with respect to brokerage commissions:

A He only said that it was good for me to activate my license.

Q So the subject wasn't mentioned at all?

A No, not at all. He didn't approach the subject.

Q At that time what expectations did you have, if any, respecting commissions?

A Well, all the sales for Treasure Mountain Corporation had been done on the premises that the Broker will get one percent commission on all sales.

Q And that was your expectation?

A And that was my expectation. He was the Salesman and I was the Broker, and I expected to be paid as a Broker. (T.34, 35).

It is customary among real estate brokers and salesmen for the broker to receive a portion of the selling commission. This is established not only by the custom and practice with relation to the sale of the Treasure Mountain condominiums, where both before and after the Taylor-Treasure Mountain contract the broker received a one percent commission and the salesman received a 2 1/2 percent commission on the sales of condominiums, but it is true among real estate agents and brokers generally. Robert Monson, who testified in behalf of Mr. Taylor, stated that it was customary for real estate brokers to receive a percentage of the commission.

In E. Friedman, Real Estate Encyclopedia (Prentice Hall, 1960), it is stated:

SHARING OF BROKER'S COMMISSION: A salesman is paid for his services by his employer. His compensation generally consists of a percentage of the broker's commission earned on sales made by the salesman. The salesman is not entitled to collect commissions direct from principals.

Each real estate organization establishes its own schedule for division of commissions between the employer and its salesmen. Some

real estate organizations pay their salesmen 50% of commissions earned, others pay 40% with 10% to the supervisor. In some firms, step-ups are provided; if the brokerage commission exceeds a certain amount, an additional 5% may be paid; above that amount, a further percentage may be allowed.

And see A. Ring, Real Estate Principles and Practices
Chapter 18 (Prentice Hall, 1972):

The compensation of a salesman depends entirely on his arrangement with his employer, the broker. A novice may receive a small salary and a small share of any commissions earned by the broker as a result of the salesman's work. As he gains in experience and usefulness, his compensation changes. Ultimately he reaches a point at which his compensation is from 40 to 60% of the brokerage paid on his transactions, quite possibly with a drawing account against such earnings.

The circumstances under which the brokerage services were performed by Mrs. Fowler are such that the court should find a contract implied-in-fact under which Mr. Taylor agreed to pay her the reasonable value of those services.

With respect to implied-in-fact contracts, the following statement is found in 17 Am.Jur. 2d Contracts § 4:

There is a wide variety of particular circumstances under which contracts will be implied-in-fact. Thus, where a person performs services, furnishes property, or expends money for another at the other's request and there is no express agreement as to compensation, the promise to pay the reasonable value of the services or property or to reimburse for money expended may properly be implied where, but only where, the circumstances warrant such an inference.

Generally, there is an implication of a promise to pay for valuable services rendered with the knowledge and approval of the recipient, in the absence of a showing to the contrary. A promise to pay the reasonable value of the service is implied where one performs for another, with the other's knowledge, a useful service of a character that is usually charged for, and the latter expresses no dissent or avails himself of the service. * * *

That contracts may be implied in fact, without express agreement, was recognized by the Utah Supreme Court in Kimball Elevator Company v. Elevator Supplies Co., 2 Utah 2d 289, 272 P.2d 583 (1954). Although the court failed to find an implied contract in that case, it stated the general rule as follows:

It is of course conceded that a contract may be made out even though there be no express words formally stating it, and that the promise may be inferred wholly or in part from such conduct as justifies the promisee in understanding that the promisor intended to make it.

And see Radley v. Smith, 6 Utah 2d 314, 313 P.2d 465 (1957), wherein the Utah Supreme Court, in upholding a finding of an implied contract, said:

It is sufficient for our purposes to affirm the court's ruling because it is well established that the meeting of minds necessary for the formation of a contract can be found from conduct and circumstances as well as by verbal expression.

It is generally held that where one engages or accepts beneficial services of another for which compensation is customarily made and naturally anticipated, even though there is no expressed agreement for compensation, the law implies an understanding or intent to pay the value of the services rendered. In Florey v. Sinkey, 77 Nev. 275, 362 P.2d 271 (1961), the plaintiff real estate broker brought an action for the reasonable value of his services in procuring a purchaser for defendant's mining property. No agreement to pay compensation was entered into by the parties, but evidence was presented that it was a custom in the area for the seller of mining property to pay 10 percent of the consideration actually received by him to the person who was the procuring cause of the sale. The trial court determined that the custom was sufficiently known to charge the defendant with constructive knowledge of the same and held that there was an implied agreement to pay plaintiff the reasonable value of his services. On appeal the Nevada Supreme Court stated:

The trial court found that there was an implied agreement on the part of Florey to pay Sinkey the reasonable value of his services, and as there was substantial evidence in support of such finding, as well as the other findings of the trial court, the same may not be disturbed on

this appeal. The amount found to be the reasonable value of Sinkey's services was the same as 10% of the \$84,000 found to have been actually received by Florey from Kaufmann. In effect, the sum found to be due Sinkey as compensation for his services, under the established custom of the mining locality, became the reasonable value of such services. (Citations omitted.) 362 P.2d at 273.

Appellant concedes that where no compensation is agreed upon in advance for services requested by and performed by another, there is a presumption that compensation was intended. However, the contention is made that the presumption is rebutted by the circumstances of this particular case.

Appellant's primary argument is that Mrs. Fowler's strong self-interest in complying with Mr. Taylor's request to activate her real estate broker's license negates any inference of an implied-in-fact agreement for compensation. However, appellant fails to take into consideration that Mrs. Fowler's self-interest is no different than the interest of any other broker in having salesmen working under him and sharing in the commissions from their sales. Mrs. Fowler would not have taken on the added responsibility and potential liability of acting as real estate broker without expecting additional compensation. Appellant was not justified in assuming that Mrs. Fowler would comply with his request to

act as real estate broker and then receive only the standard 2 1/2 percent sales commission on her sales.

Appellant's second and third arguments in support of his contention that there was no implied-in-fact agreement is that there was no agreement between the parties respecting compensation and that the intentions of the parties as to compensation were clearly contrary to each other. There is no basis for these arguments, as the law requires neither an agreement nor similar intentions of the parties for the court to find an implied agreement for compensation. To find an implied-in-fact contract, there must be mutual assent of the parties to contract but there is no requirement of mutual assent as to compensation. Florey v. Sinkey, supra.

In the case at bar, the mutual assent required was simply that both Mr. Taylor and Mrs. Fowler agree that Mrs. Fowler would act as real estate broker. After this fact was established, the court properly found an implied-in-fact agreement to pay Mrs. Fowler reasonable compensation for her services. The law in this regard is summarized in the following manner:

If there is no agreement fixing the compensation which a broker is to receive for his services, but there is a well-established custom

in the neighborhood with respect to the amount of compensation to which a broker is entitled, the law implies a promise on the part of the person employing him to pay the usual and customary commissions. If no such custom or usage can be shown, the broker is entitled to reasonable compensation. 12 Am.Jur.2d Brokers § 161.

In the absence of a special agreement as to the matter, the broker is entitled to a fair and reasonable compensation for his services. 12 C.J.S. Brokers § 78.

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